#### **Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

### Richard N. Peterson and Maxine H. Peterson v. J. Lowell Platt and Joseph W. Beesley: Brief of **Appellants**

Utah Supreme Court

#### NATURE OF OF THE CASE

Essentially, this is is an action for conversion of personal property located in a drive-in food establishment, and for resulting damages. Defendant counterclaimed for unpaid lease rentals and damages for breach of lease.

#### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court granted judgment for plaintiff on the complaint and denied defendant's counterclaim. The judgment granted consisted of:

- (a) \$ 181.48 lease rental pro-ration;
- (b) \$8,527.74 equitable interest in equipment;
- (c) \$ 654.19 interest in other equipment;
- (d) \$1,644.63 other items of personal property;
- (e) \$1,632.00 items of inventory;
- (f) \$ 10.00 mental anguish; and
- (g) \$1,000.00 punitive damages;

making a total judgment of \$13,650.04, and costs.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the entire judgment of the lower court, and an award of jugment to defendant and against plaintiff in the amount of \$1,250.00 on the counterclaim.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Richard N. Peterson and Maxine H. Peterson, his wife, are the plaintiffs-respondents; and J. Lowell Platt and Joseph W. Beesley are the defendants. For practical purposes, Richard N. Peterson is referred to as the plaintiff in this brief and J. Lowell Platt is referred

to as the defendant, both references in the singular. When Maxine H. Peterson is referred to, she is mentioned as "plaintiff's wife," although in fact she is a party plaintiff; and and Joseph W. Beesley is not referred to at all in this brief. It is believed this designation will assist the court in identifying the parties in what is a rather involved fact situation.

The facts, rather than the law, will determine this appeal, although the trial judge committed error of both law and fact. To present the facts fully, defendant has elected to set forth a rather detailed, chronological report of the facts as they were stated by plaintiff and his witnesses, and this appears under Point I of the argument. Under the Statement of Facts as here presented, defendant will simply quote verbatim the Findings made and entered by the trial court. This is for the convenience of the Court on appeal, because defendant will later show the gross error in the court's findings as quoted below.

But before quoting the court's findings, defendant will make one simple observation of fact that is of critical importance on appeal because it entitles defendant to reversal of the judgment granted by the lower court. It is important to emphasize and remember this fact, because a considerable attempt will be made by plaintiff's counsel on appeal, as was made in the lower court, to confuse this fact. The critical fact

is this: The entire judgment was based upon a conversion and damages resulting therefrom, although plaintiff, if he ever had a right of action for conversion, elected not to consider it a conversion, but actually sold and assigned all of his right, title and interest in the property which he claimed was converted. This is fatally inconsistent with the theory of conversion, and, as the conversion falls, so falls all other segments of the judgment awarded. For this reason, considerable time has been spent, and space utilized, to frame the complete factual picture, so that the undisputed fact of plaintiff's continued claim of ownership after the conversion can be seen in the complete setting. In so doing, defendant does not abandon his other points on appeal, but simply suggests the other points are most after the conversion finding is reversed, and defendant is entitled to judgment on his counterclaim.

Well, back to the trial court's findings, which defendant now quotes in full, but without approval:

#### FINDINGS OF FACT

- 1. Defendant, J. Lowell Platt is and at all times herein concerned was a resident of Salt Lake County. Utah.
- 2. On the 10th day of June, 1960, the plaintiffs entered into a Lease Agreement with defendants, with

plaintiffs as lessees and the defendants as lessors of land and a building to be constructed thereon by lessor which premises became known as "Arctic Circle Drive-In" at Highland Drive and Gunn Avenue, Salt Lake City, Utah. On the same day, the plaintiffs delivered to the defendant, J. Lowell Platt, a check in the amount of \$1,250.00, representing advance payment of the last two months of the Lease.

- 3. The building was not ready for occupancy until August 23, 1960, at which time the plaintiffs entered into possession of the premises—the plaintiffs paying defendants \$625.00 as rent for the period commencing August 23, 1960, and ending September 22, 1960.
- 4. Continuing from the aforesaid date of August 23, 1960, to and including August 10, 1962, the plaintiffs occupied, operated and possessed the premises, conducting thereon a public food distribution system known as "Arctic Circle Drive-In."
- 5. Concurrently with the payment by plaintiffs to defendants of the \$625.00 on August 23, 1960, the parties agreed that the monthly rent period provided in the Lease be amended to, and thereafter should be, from the 23rd day of each month with the term of the Lease to commence August 23, 1960.

- 6. In December, 1961 and January, 1962, the plaintiffs paid only a one-half month's rent, and in April, 1962, the plaintiffs failed to pay the current rent for that month. Plaintiffs, however, subsequently paid the current rental for succeeding months, including the rental due and payable on May 23, 1962, and likewise rental due and payable on June 23rd and July 23, 1962. Thus, by August 14, 1962, plaintiffs had paid the rental on the premises to August 23, 1963, though there were two months' back rent unpaid resulting from the one-half payment made in December, 1961, and January, 1962, and the failure to pay any rental in April, 1962.
- 7. During the period of time that plaintiffs occupied the Drive-In property, the defendants never at any time made any demands on plaintiffs for the payment of delinquent rental, nor was any notice ever given to plaintiffs of any default on the part of plaintiffs in the performance of the Lease or of any intention on the part of defendants to terminate the plaintiff's occupancy of the premises.
- 8. During the nighttime or early morning of August 14, 1962, the defendant, Platt, without notice or warning to plaintiffs whatsoever and without authority of plaintiffs, went to the Drive-In premises, changed the lock on the building, parked his camper in front of the door, and denied plaintiffs access to the Drive-In and thus "took over" the premises. On being notified by the early

morning help of defendant's action, the plaintiff, Richard N. Peterson, went to the premises and requested Platt to open the doors, to get the business open, and then to sit down and iron out what differences there were, all of which Platt defiantly refused to do. Particularly did Peterson request that he be given the perishables and his bookkeeping and payroll records, all of which was again refused by Platt in an arrogant and defiant manner. Defendant, Platt, would not even let Peterson have access to the telephone in the premises to call the employees and advise them not to come to work.

- 9. The Court finds that the conduct of the defendant, Platt, was overt, uncalled for, colored with malice and amounted to an unlawful termination of the Lease and conversion of Peterson's property within the premises.
- 10. At the time of the lockout and take-over by the defendant, J. Lowell Platt, the following items and property were within the premises, all of which were converted by the defendant, Platt:
- (a) Equipment being purchased by the Petersons, from Arctic Circle, Inc. under a conditional sales contract, (Exhibit No. 6, p. 1), the value of Peterson's equity converted being \$8,527.74.

- (b) Equipment (Exhibit No. 7, page 1) not covered by the conditional sales contract (Value: \$2,366.19) less the amount of the Marvion Sign Obligation (\$1,712.00).

  \$654.19
- (c) Other items of personal property (Exhibit No. 7, page 2), having a value of \$1,644.63.
- (d) Inventory (Exhibit No. 7), having a value of \$1,632.00.
- 11. The equipment covered by the aforesaid Conditional Sales Contract, Exhibit No. 6, which equipment was being purchased by the Petersons from Arctic Circle, Inc., was a special type of equipment manufactured for the particular type of business operated by plaintiffs. The equipment was of a peculiar and special nature and had no ready market value, and as a practical matter could only be replaced by the purchase of new equipment.
- 12. At the time of the "lockout" and "take-over" by Platt, the Petersons had only a break-even business. Income equaled the operating expenses but developed no interest on capital invested.
- 13. The conduct on the part of Platt in terminating the Lease was very upsetting to Peterson and the cause of considerable embarrassment and mental suffering.

- 14. The plaintiffs at no time entered into collusion with or cooperated with any third party from whom they were puchasing any equipment or fixtures in an attempt to harass the defendants or cause them to suffer any financial expense or loss. The plaintiffs at all times pertinent herein acted in good faith.
- 15. The civdence fails to show that the defendant, J. Lowell Platt, advanced any payments for sewer and building taxes which should have been paid by the plaintiffs. No sums whatsoever remained due and owing to the defendant, J. Lowell Platt, by the plaintiffs, Peterson.
- 16. The evidence fails to show that the plaintiffs maliciously or without just cause, excuse or reason, caused the water to the premises to be disconnected without prior notice to the defendants prior to the time of the property being vacated by the plaintiffs and occupied by the defendants.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT NO. I.

#### THERE WAS NO CONVERSION

Since the trial court found the factual issues generally in favor of the plaintiff, it is realized that it is difficult on appeal to upset the trial court's findings. However, the critical aspects of this case depend upon the facts, and it is necessary to show that the trial court's findings are inaccurate, unsupported by the evidence,

or directly contrary to the evidence. The trial was rather long, beginning on October 10 and continuing until October 22, 1963, and the record, including the transcript and depositions, substantially exceeds 1,000 pages in length. The following presentation of the evidence is an honest and fair extract of the record, viewed, as it must be, in the light most favorable to plaintiff. If conflicting testimony from defendant is used, such will be clearly stated, and the opposing testimony from plaintiff or plaintiff's witnesses will be cited.

(a) Background events leading to "lockout" of August 14, 1962.

Plaintiff operated an Arctic Circle franchised drivein located on 20th East and 33rd South, Salt Lake City,
from 1954 until 1961 (T. 9). Plaintiff's wife was related
to members of the Edwards family that controls the
closely held Arctic Circle corporation (T. 457). In the
spring of 1960 plaintiff decided to acquire a drive-in operation on 3068 Highland Drive, at the intersection with
Gunn Avenue, Salt Lake City, and he executed a lease
for a ten year term, whereby he leased from defendant
the ground with the building to be constructed (T. 11).
The lease was dated June 10, 1960, but defendant was obligated to build the building to Arctic Circle specifications, and it was anticipated that the building would be
completed August 10, 1960 (T. 11). The monthly rental
payments were to be \$625.00 per month, and plaintiff

made an initial payment of \$1,250.00, which was to pay the rent for the last two months under the lease (Ex. 1-P, T. 20). The regular monthly payments were to begin on August 10, 1960, which was the anticipated date of occupancy (Ex. 1-P).

The building was completed nearly two weeks later than anticipated, and plaintiff did not actually take occupancy until August 23, 1960 (T. 14-18). At this time defendant had obligated or invested \$105,000.00 in the building and the land (T. 664). When defendant asked plaintiff for the rent on August 23, plaintiff suggested that the rent be pro-rated from then until the 10th of September, because plaintiff had been unable to take possession on the anticipated date of August 10 (T. 18-20). Defendant said that he needed the entire \$625.00 to make an installment payment on the property, and that he would prefer that plaintiff pay the full monthly rental, and then simply pay succeeding rental payments on the 23rd of each month, and plaintiff agreed (T. 18-20).

Plaintiff's business proved to be unsuccessful. He never showed a profit on his tax returns (T. 539). He fell \$1,250.00 behind in his lease rentals to defendant (T. 229-30). He had bought substantial equipment from Arctic Circle, and couldn't keep current in the payments. In fact, the conditional sales contract required payments only during eight months of the year, and required no payments during four months of winter when business

ordinarily was slow (Ex. 10-P). Despite this, plaintiff in 1961 and 1962 succeeded in getting these payments temporarily reduced from \$1,011.79 to \$550.00, and he was still having trouble (T. 473, 483-85). By August of 1962 plaintiff had missed two of the reduced monthly payments (T. 483-84). Perhaps Arctic Circle's reluctance to allow further arrearage on equipment payments was the fact that plaintiff had accumulated an open account debt of about \$15,000.00, and this debt was unsecured (T. 143). Further, plaintiff received a \$1,000.00 personal loan from an officer in the Arctic Circle organization, and did not pay it back (T. 494-95).

Plaintiff's business was so bad that one of plaintiff's witnesses at the trial said it was "unique" in that respect (T. 439). This same winess, Don J. Edwards of Arctic Circle, said he thought the business finally was about to a "break-even" basis on August 14, 1962 (T. 440). On cross-examination Don Edwards explained what he meant by "break-even," saying that it simply meant that gross income equalled operating expenses, but was not sufficient to pay installments or interest on equipment purchases (T. 474-80). Plaintiff also classified his own business as near the "break-even" point, and also admitted a rather unusual view of that term:

Question: (By Mr. McMurray) . . . would you explain to the court what you mean by the concept "breaking-even"; or what you meant by the concept "break-even".

Answer: Well, that is where you—my concept or way I figure it is where your income and your outgo of your—your outgo or funds provided for absolute necessities of carrying on that business, equal. In other words, it is where your purchases and expenses and payrolls amount to the same as your income, or figuring the break-even, I have never—I have never entered into my own personal withdrawals, back payments or equipment, which is, to me, capitalization, and of course the payments also included any break-down of interest on the contract.

Question: Do I understand they are excluded?

Answer: Those are excluded; nor have I ever figured depreciation in figuring my break-even point. (T. 502-03; See T. 505).

Plaintiff thus claimed that his business had reached a break-even point, but that it could not pay any part of equipment purchases, no part of his salary or "personal draws," no interest expense, and no depreciation. So, to an investor, this break even business would lose at least \$10,000.00 per year. Why? Because it would be necessary to hire someone to do what plaintiff was doing, and plaintiff was managing a business that was open more than S4 hours a week (T. 464). Further, a reasonable allowance for depreciation would have to be made, because the equipment would have to be replaced when

worn out. These two items alone, not considered an "expense" by plaintiff on his break even theory, would exceed \$10,000.00 per year. Such an assured loss wouldn't be too appealing to a reasonable investor.

In this financial condition, plaintiff was finally told by Arctic Circle that he would have to do something to bring current the delinquent payments on the conditional sales contract or they would have to take steps to protect themselves (T. 35). Arctic Circle had actually assigned the proceeds receivable under the contract to the bank, and the bank was pressing for payment or it might exercise the "recourse" provision of the assignment and make Arctic Circle buy back the contract (T. 470-72). But plaintiff couldn't do anything, since he would have to make such payments out of capital rather than drive-in receipts, and he testified that he had no operating capital:

"... I have testified that I was out of operating capital, and any payments made to the bank would have to come out of operating capital." (T. 520)

To make matters worse, plaintiff on August 13 was heading into the fall and winter months, when business would be even worse.

(b) Discussion of August 13, 1962:

Financially depressed and embarrassed and concerned because Arctic Circle had announced it was going to take steps to protect itself, plaintiff called defendant on the telephone at about 1 p.m. on August 13, 1962 and said that he wanted to talk to defendant (T. 34). Defendant drove from his home down to the drive-in, where plaintiff discussed his financial condition. Plaintiff said that he had been put on notice by Arctic Circle that it would have to take steps to protect itself, although he had not been given any direct notice of repossession (T. 35-38, 532). Plaintiff did say that he could not do anything about it, and that the matter was out of his hands (T. 234-38). Plaintiff tried to get defendant to take back the business and run it himself, since then defendant would not have to pay rent to himself and he might be able to make it; although shortly thereafter plaintiff contradicted his very own testimony and said that absolutely nothing was said about defendant taking over the business:

". . . I thought, possibly, the fact that he owned the property, that he would be interested for the fact that he could take over and possibly have a more successful operation because of the rent that he wouldn't have to pay. He let me know immediately, that he absolutely wasn't interested in taking over any operation of any type of food business, whatsoever. I explored the—I explored the possibility that he had somebody in mind, possibly a relative or somebody that he would possibly be interested in setting up in business, and, of

course, he wasn't. I then talked or tried to approach and discuss the possibilities of re-writing a new lease with Mr. Platt (defendant) based on a percentage of sales . . . Mr. Platt told me that he couldn't re-write the lease; that, if he didn't get that \$625 right exactly when it was due, he would go broke; he would go 'down the drain.' " (T. 36)

Despite this testimony, a few minutes later plaintiff testified in shocking contradiction of himself:

Question: (By Mr. McMurray) Was there anything in this conversation relative to your terminating the business at that point and Mr. Platt taking it over; that is, your surrendering the property and Mr. Platt taking it over?

Answer: Absolutely not. (T. 38)

Another aspect of this conversation which is difficult to understand, strictly in light of plaintiff's testimony, is his claim that his primary reason for calling defendant was to tell defendant not to rely on receiving the lease rental payments:

Question: (By Mr. McMurray) Would you tell the court the substance of that conversation?

Answer: Yes, sir; Mr. Platt arrived at the drivein, and I told him that I understood that he was getting ready to build an office building, and that I only thought he should know at what point the drive-in was at, because I thought that I had an obligation to him of not letting him stick out his neck on an office building if he was to do any part of the financing from the success of the drive-in. (T. 35)

Despite this avowed primary purpose of warning defendant not to do anything in reliance on receiving the lease rental payments from the drive-in, plaintiff then testified only two pages later in the record that he wanted to assure defendant that, whatever happened, the lease rental payments would be made:

". . . at this point I assured Mr. Platt one of the reasons I called him down was that I did not—I told him didn't want anything to happen that would get him excited and have him take moves that were not called for, that might possibly force me into bankruptcy against my will; and assured him that, regardless of what happened in relation to Edwards, his rent would be paid; his rent would be paid, regardless." (T.37)

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