Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

Richard N. Peterson and Maxine H. Peterson v. J. Lowell Platt and Joseph W. Beesley: Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

As a matter of fact on August 13, 1962, the day before the lock-out and take-over, Peterson had assured Platt that the rent would continue to be paid (T. 37).

(C) The defendant never made any demand for the payment of rent or gave notice of any default, etc.

The court was justified in finding (Finding No. 7, R. 89) that during the period of time that the plaintiffs occupied the drive-in property, that the defendant never at any time made any demands on the plaintiffs for the payment of delinquent rental, nor was any notice ever given of any default on the part of the plaintiffs in the performance of the lease or of any intention on the part

of the defendant to terminate the plaintiffs' occupancy of the premises (T. 33, 683-684).

(D) The lock-out, take-over and conversion by Platt.

There is substantial evidence showing that on August 14, 1962, in the night time or early morning, the defendant Platt, without notice or warning to plaintiffs whatsoever, went to the drive-in premises, changed the locks on the building, and parked his camper in front of the door (T. 38-45, 50-52, 685).

Peterson's testimony was that on arriving at the drive-in he pleaded with Platt to get the business open and then sit down and work out the problem (T. 40). This Platt refused to do (T. 40). Peterson then requested that he be let in to save the "perishables" (T. 40). He was refused (T. 40). Peterson then asked to get his books and payroll and was again denied access to the property (T. 41, 42). Peterson was not even permitted to go inside to make a telephone call to advise "the help" not to come to work (T. 43). Platt testified on crossexamination that even if Peterson had made a demand for the equipment and property, it would not have been given to him (T. 686, 687). Platt stated that no one was going into that building (T. 40, 41). The evidence thus amply supports Finding of Fact No. 8 (R. 89-90) and justifies Conclusions of Law Nos. 1 and 2 (R. 91-92), which conclusions are as follows:

- "1. Defendant, Platt. had no right to enter the drive-in premises and deny the Petersons access thereto. His conduct amounted to a forcible entry as defined by Chapter 36 of Title 78, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.
- "2. By his conduct the defendant, Platt, unlawfully terminated the Lease, relieved the Petersons of any further obligation to pay rent, made himself obligated for damages reasonably flowing from his tortious act; converted Peterson's property within the premises, and made himself obligated for damages allowable as an action of trover for such conversion."

There is no question that this conduct on the part of Platt amounted to a conversion of the property in the premises. Neither is there any doubt that there was not only a conversion as to Peterson as a conditional vendee, but certainly if not before, then at least by the afternoon of August 14, 1962, by reason of the assignment to Arctic Circle (Exhibit 5-A), there was a conversion as to Arctic Circle.

The fact that the defendant called the plaintiff's residence at about 8:30 A.M. on the morning of the 14th and talked to the plaintiff's wife advising her that he had decided to "enforce clause 8 of our contract," to which the plaintiff's wife replied, "... that is wonderful" (T. 655, page 19 of defendant's brief), can be of little help to the defendant. It is obvious that rather than giving consent to a lock-out and termination of the plaintiff's

business, the expression of the plaintiff's wife — if she in fact said what the defendant claims she said — could have only been an expression arising from the contemplation that the defendant was willing to purchase the business for she then said, "Do you want me to call the help and have them come down so that you can continue to run?" (T. 655).

In considering the evidence of the existence of a conversion, it should be remembered that conversion is a tort concerned with the possession of property. See 89 C.J.S., "Trover & Conversion," Sec. 3, page 533:

"Conversion is a tort, a wrongful act, which in the nature of things cannot spring from the exercise of a legal right. The law of conversion, it has been said, is concerned with possession, not title, conversion being an offense against possession of property. It may be either direct or constructive, and may be proved directly or by inference. The essence of conversion is not the acquisition of property by the wrongdoer, but a wrongful deprivation of it to the owner, although a temporary deprivation will be sufficient; and in consequence it is of no importance what subsequent application was made of the converted property, or that defendant derived no benefit from his act."

It is unimportant that on the morning of August 14, 1962, Peterson made no formal demand for the delivery

to him of the equipment and inventory, etc. Such a demand would have been futile in view of the fact that Platt had refused Peterson the perishables (T. 40), his books (T. 41) and access to the building for the making of a telephone call (T. 43). In addition, as noted, Platt testified on cross-examination that had such a request been made, it would have been denied at that time (T. 686-687).

"A demand and refusal are not essential to a conversion where it is clear that a demand would have been useless or unavailing, if it had been made." See 89 C.J.S., "Trover & Conversion," Sec. 57, page 561.

Numerous authorities are cited in support of the foregoing statement.

The right of a conditional vendee to bring a suit for the conversion of property has been considered. See the annotation in 116 A.L.R. 904. A general statement of the principle is found in 89 C.J.S., "Trover & Conversion." Sec. 164, page 643:

"A plaintiff having only a special or qualified right or interest may recover the full value of the converted property, as against a stranger having neither title nor right of possession; but, as against a defendant having an interest or right in the property, recovery is limited to the value of plaintiff's interest or right, and to the fair value of the property."

A conditional vendee may well be entitled to recover the full value of the property converted rather than just the value of his equity. The reason and basis for such recovery being:

"... the fact that the party having the limited or qualified interest is liable over to the owner of the remaining interest, and in order to be adequately compensated must receive sufficient compensation not only to compensate himself for his own loss but to satisfy the demands of such owner." Goldberg v. List, 79 P.2d 1087 (Cal. 1938)

The case of Southern Arizona Bank & Trust Company v. Stigers, 53 P.2d 422 (Arizona, 1936), involved the right of the conditional vendee to sue for the conversion of an automobile. In this case the court permitted the recovery which amounted to the difference between the balance of the car and what he owed on the purchase price, but noted that circumstances might exist where the measure of the damage might be the full value of the property:

"'The legal title is not always necessary to an action for conversion, but any special valuable interest in the property accompanied with the right of possession is sufficient to form the basis of such an action.' Carvell v. Weaver, 54 Cal. App. 734, 202 P. 897, 898.

"Where the converter of the property is in no way connected with its title, the buyer's measure of damages is the full value of the property. Burnett v. Edw. J. Dunnigan, Inc., 165 Wash. 164, 4 P.2d 829." It is apparent, therefore, that insofar as the equipment covered by the Conditional Sales Contract is concerned, Peterson had an interest that could be and was converted.

The case of Crutcher v. Scott Pub. Co., 253 P.2d 925 (Washington, 1953), involved an action by a buyer's trustee in bankruptcy against a seller's assignee for conversion of property. Suit was brought for the conversion of property and destruction of a going business. In regard to the right of one having a limited interest in property to sue for conversion thereof, the court held:

"We think respondent's point is well taken. A person who is entitled to bring an action for a conversion, although he has a limited interest in the property converted, may, as against a stranger, recover the full value of the property. Hadley Warehouse Co. v. Broughton, 1923, 126 Wash. 356, 218 P. 257; Burnett v. Edw. J. Dunnigan, Inc., supra; Anstine v. McWilliams, 1945, 24 Wash. 2d 230, 162 P.2d 816; Angell v. Lewiston State Bank, 1925, 72 Mont. 345, 232 P. 90; 53 Am. Jur. 907, Trover and Conversion, Sec. 121.

"In Corey v. Struve, 1915, 170 Cal. 170, 149 P. 48, the Supreme Court of California said:

"'The rule that the owners of a special interest in property may recover only to the extent of such interest applies only to cases where the suit is brought against the owner of the remaining interest or his assignee."

See also *Driver v. Acquisto*, 302 P.2d 387 (California, 1956).

Since in this case Peterson's obligation to Arctic Circle, Inc., was cancelled, his recovery was appropriately limited to his equity in the equipment covered by the Conditional Sales Contract.

On page 27 of the defendant's brief counsel, in support of his claim that there was no act of conversion on the morning of August 14, 1962, claims that the defendant "had a contractual right under the lease to resume possession if there was a default in the payment of rent" and the "defendant had a lien, pursuant to the lease, on all property of every kind which the plaintiff owned or had an ownership interest in, and which was located in the building (Exhibit 1)." This claim of counsel is most novel and is, of course, totally unsupported by any authority. It is true that the defendant claimed to be enforcing "Clause 8" of the lease in the lock-out and take-over of the drive-in. Nothing in the defendant's pleadings indicated, however, that the defendant was ever seeking to enforce any lien right. Counsel made this same feeble argument to the trial court. Judge Faux's comments, which unfortunately are not in the record of the case, were a classic commentary on the forcible entry

and detainer statutes of this and other states. It is so well established in this state as to require no comment or citation of authority, that one cannot forcibly enter property and oust the occupants thereof. He must resort to the orderly procedures established by law (see Chapter 36 of Title 78, Utah Code Annotated, 1953).

As for the claim that the defendant had a lien, suffice it to state that none was ever pleaded or asserted, nor was any effort ever made by the defendant to follow the procedure by which such a lien is to be perfected (see Chapter 3 of Title 38, Utah Code Annotated, 1953). In any event, as already pointed out, the trial court found, and justifiably so that on October 14, 1962, the plaintiff had paid the current rental to August 23, 1962.

(E) The security arrangement between Peterson and Arctic Circle.

Following the lockout, take-over and conversion by Platt, Peterson contacted representatives of Arctic Circle and consulted with Wilford M. Burton (T. 50). As a result of this consultation, documents were prepared by Wilford Burton whereby Peterson made an assignment of all that he had in the drive-in to Arctic Circle for the purpose of securing his open-account indebtedness to Arctic Circle (T. 56, 57, 151-153, 411, 430, 431). The arrangement between Arctic Circle and Peterson is evidenced by Exhibits 5 A, B, C.

The trial court reviewed Exhibit 5 in detail and discussed the same at length with counsel at the trial of the case (T. 64-69). Though no formal finding of fact or conclusion of law was made by the trial court in regard thereto, the court ruled (T. 67) that by Exhibit 5-A the plaintiff sold certain chattels, merchandise, inventory and equipment not covered by the conditional sales agreement to Arctic Circle, Inc. The trial court saw in Exhibit 5-B the background of the security arrangement (T. 68). To the trial court the third instrument (Exhibit 5-C) indicated that all title and ownership of the property covered thereby vested absolutely in Arctic Circle. Arctic Circle thereafter settled its claim against Platt with the understanding, however, that Platt would still have to settle with Peterson (Exhibit 12). The court interpreted Exhibit 5-D, the agreement of November 12, 1962, as an agreement between the Petersons and Platt, by which the Petersons were granted the right to proceed with the suit as though the action between Arctic Circle and Platt and the other elements and transactions had not intervened (T. 60).

The agreement of November 7, 1962 (Exhibit 12), the agreement of November 12, 1962 (Exhibit 5-D), and particularly the stipulation of the defendant through his attorney during the course of the trial (T. 453-456) are all consistent and make it clear that the Petersons are

properly prosecuting the action, and are the real parties in interest. Arctic Circle, having settled with Platt, now claims nothing from him (T. 383-385).

(F) The conversion against Arctic Circle on the afternoon of August 14, 1962.

The evidence further shows that at least by the afternoon of August 14, 1962, a conversion had been committed as to Arctic Circle. By reason of the assignment to Arctic Circle, the conditional vendor, it became entitled to the possession of the equipment and property in the drive-in. On that afternoon Ralph Edwards and Don Edwards of Arctic Circle went with Peterson to the drive-in premises (T. 50). They observed that the building was locked and Platt's camper backed up against the doorway (T. 50, 51). Platt was informed of the assignment to Arctic Circle and demand was made on Platt by Ralph Edwards of Arctic Circle that the building be unlocked in order that the inventory and equipment might be removed (T. 53). Platt flatly told them that "nobody is getting into that building" (T. 53). The conversion by this time, if not in the morning of the same day, was certainly complete as to Arctic Circle, the conditional vendor of the equipment and vendee of other property in the drive-in.

(G) There was no failure on the part of Peterson to ignore or waive the conversion by Platt, and Platt's

settlement with Arctic Circle left standing Peterson's case with all of its causes of action against Platt.

On page 29 of his brief counsel for the defendant contends that even if Platt's conduct in locking the building and taking over on the morning of August 14th amounted to a conversion of the plaintiff's property that Peterson's subsequent assignment to Arctic Circle extinguished any cause of action Peterson might have had. Counsel for the appellant argues that Peterson still claimed ownership and dominion over the property and grasps at "election of remedies," "estoppel" or "whatever" and claims that any cause of action Peterson might have had was extinguished (page 30 of appellant's brief). It is obviously true that Peterson could have made an arrangement with Platt whereby the conversion might have been disregarded, forgotten, or ignored. However, there is not one iota of testimony to indicate that as between Peterson and Platt there was any intention to ignore, waive or disregard the conversion of Platt. On the contrary the evidence is clear that Peterson and Arctic Circle stood firmly on the conversion (T. 50, 56, 57, 151, 153, 411, 430, Exhibit 5).

We, of course, have no quarrel with the general statement of the law as set forth in 89 C.J.S., "Trover & Conversion," §88. Such a general statement, however, only begs the question. The cases cited by counsel on page 30

of the appellant's brief, however, are simply not in point. Johnston v. Cincinnati Ry. Co., 240 S.W. 429 (Tenn. 1922), involved a fact situation having no comparison to the instant case. In that case, the plaintiff waived the claim of conversion by alleging an ownership of the property and asking for its return and for rental or hire for its use. As a matter of fact, that election was more definitely exercised when shortly thereafter the receiver accepted back the property from the defendant and proceeded to dispose of it. Stout v. Fultz, 93 S.W. 919 (Mo. 1906) again involves a completely dissimilar fact situation. In that case, the plaintiff's cow got into the defendant's field over a division fence. The defendant looked her up and refused to turn her out until the plaintiff paid damages, but afterward made settlement with plaintiff and turned the cow out on his written order. The court held, of course, that the defendant was not liable to the plaintiff for the value of the cow. In Weakley v. Evans, 46 S.W. 1070 (Tenn. 1897) the court concluded that there was not even a conversion. It is true, however, in Weakley v. Evans, supra, that the court did indicate that if there had been a conversion involving the same, it had been waived by the dealings between the plaintiffs and defendants, inasmuch as the plaintiffs negotiated with the defendants to sell them the goods involved and at all times in their dealings with the defendant treated the property as their own.

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